Lincoln University

&

Lincoln University MNEA

Collective Bargaining Agreement

January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2025

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNIT	1
ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS	1
ARTICLE 4 - ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND RESPONSIBILITY	1
ARTICLE 5 - FACULTY SENATE	2
ARTICLE 6 - LUMNEA-LU PARTNERSHIP	2
ARTICLE 7 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	3
ARTICLE 8 - UNION RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 9 - SABBATICAL LEAVE	5
ARTICLE 10 - NO STRIKES	6
ARTICLE 11 - COLLECTIVE BARGAINING GROUND RULES	7
ARTICLE 12 - WORKPLACE SAFETY	8
ARTICLE 13 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION/DISCHARGE	10
ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE	
ARTICLE 15 - REDUCTION IN FORCE	14
ARTICLE 16 – BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 17 - COMPLETE AGREEMENT	18
ARTICLE 18 - LEGALITY/STABILITY OF AGREEMENT	18
ARTICLE 19 - DURATION	18
ARTICLE 20 - NON-DISCRIMINATION	19

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE

Section 1. Statement. This Agreement is between the Board of Curators of Lincoln University, the employer, hereinafter referred to as the "University," and the LUMNEA/MNEA, hereinafter referred to as the "University's mission.

ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNIT

Section 2. Recognition. The University recognizes the Union as the collective bargaining representative of the bargaining unit:

Academic faculty whose academic appointment is .75 FTE or higher and who is a member of a department in which a degree program is housed and whose conditions of employment is a probationary tenure or tenured track appointment. excluding all other employees including supervisory, managerial, and confidential employees.

ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS

Section 1. Definitions. The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this Agreement:

- 1. Academic Units: The colleges and schools within the University.
- 2. <u>Bargaining Unit</u>: the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2. Section 2.
- 3. Board of Curators or Board: the Board of Curators of Lincoln University.
- 4. Faculty/faculty member: members of the bargaining unit.
- 5. <u>President</u>: the President of the University.
- 6. <u>Union</u>: LUMNEA. a local affiliate of the Missouri National Education Association.
- 7. University: Administration and management of Lincoln University

ARTICLE 4 - ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND RESPONSIBILITY

Section 1. Statement. The University and the Union agree that academic freedom is essential to the mission of the University and that providing an environment of free and honest inquiry is essential to its functioning.

Section 2. Rights and Responsibilities. The Board agrees that academic freedom of its full-time faculty is vital to the success of the University in fulfilling its obligations to its students and to society. The Board and the Union agree that academic freedom is essential to these purposes and

applies to professional activities. Freedom in research is fundamental to the advancement of truth. Academic freedom in its teaching aspect is fundamental to the protection of the rights of the faculty member in teaching and of the student in learning. Professional activities carry duties correlative with rights, including:

- 1. Faculty members are entitled to freedom in research and in the publication of the results (qualified insofar as necessary in the case of sponsored research), subject to the adequate performance of their other academic duties.
- Faculty members are entitled to freedom in the classroom in discussing topics relevant to instructional objectives, but have the responsibility not to depart from their respective areas of competence or to divert substantial time to material outside of relevant instructional objectives.
- 3. Faculty members are citizens, members of an educational institution, and members of learned professions. When they speak or write as citizens, they are to be free from institutional censorship or discipline, but their special position in the community imposes special obligations. They should anticipate that the public may judge their profession and their institution by their utterances and actions. Hence, they should at all times be accurate, exercise appropriate restraint, show respect for the opinions of others, and make every effort to indicate they do not speak for the University.

ARTICLE 5 - FACULTY SENATE

Section 1. Shared Governance. The University and the Union acknowledge the role of the Faculty Senate in shared governance. The Union represents faculty interests on wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment. The Union shall endeavor to work collegially with the Faculty Senate.

ARTICLE 6 - LUMNEA-LU PARTNERSHIP

Section 1. Statement. The University and the Union recognize that an effective and harmonious working relationship will facilitate the achievement of strategic goals. This will advance the University's mission and strategic plan and provide an environment conducive to achieving excellence.

Section 2. Regular Meetings. The Provost will arrange for the LUMNEA Executive Board and the LUMNEA President and/or designee to meet at least once per semester with the deans and

the Provost and/or designee to discuss issues arising in implementation of this Agreement, issues of communication with LUMNEA, and opportunities for both parties to collaborate.

Section 3. Information Access. Pursuant to this right, the University agrees to provide relevant documents and records of the University that are not subject to privacy concerns or otherwise interfere with the deliberative processes of the University. as well as those subject to attorneyclient privilege. In addition, those documents and records specifically excluded by state and federal statute need not be disclosed, including those records identified as closed records in 1.08 of the Rules and Regulations. The reason for any denial to provide documents and records will be provided in a reasonable time.

Section 4. The Union will provide the VPAA/Provost a written list of the employees the Union has designated as workplace leaders for the fall, spring and summer semesters within approximately fifteen (15) business days from the beginning of each semester. In addition, the Union will provide the VPAA/Provost a written notice of any change in these designated workplace leaders, which shall identify any employee who is no longer designated as a workplace leader and any employee newly designated as a workplace leader, within ten (10) business days of any change.

ARTICLE 7 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1. Retention of Rights. Unless specifically and expressly limited by the terms of this Agreement, the University retains and reserves all the customary and usual rights, decision making, management prerogatives, functions and authority connected with or in any way incidental to its responsibility to provide overall leadership toward achieving all aspects of the University's strategic directions and to manage the University or any part of it. The University shall not be required to bargain over areas concerning discretion or policy as the functions of the University, such as the academic calendar.

Section 2. Reopening Events. If changed appropriations, financial conditions, adverse weather, terrorism, strike, *jorce majeure* or emergency conditions arise and materially adversely change the financial and administrative condition of the University, the parties agree to meet and reopen those affected portions of the Agreement within ten (10) business days of the declaration of said adverse change. Thereafter, the Impasse provisions in the Policy on Collective Bargaining will apply if no agreement is reached.

ARTICLE 8 - UNION RIGHTS

Section 1. Roster. The University will provide to the Union a roster of all bargaining unit members for the fall, spring and summer semesters within approximately fifteen (15) business days, from the beginning of each semester. The list will include, but not be limited to, the date of hire, percentage of FTE, job title, and department.

Section 2. Use of Space. The Union and its direct representatives have the right to use University facilities on a space available basis for the purpose of holding Union meetings and conducting Union business, so long as official business of the University is not disrupted and the space is appropriately booked and otherwise the activity is consistent with the University's Rules and Regulations. Further the Union shall hold the University harmless for any and all claims arising from such use of the facilities.

Section 3. Use of Resources. Union officers and direct representatives have the right to make de minimis use of University campus mail, fax machines, office machines, e-mail and the internet for the purpose of bargaining and implementing this Agreement. The Union shall be provided with a designated mail stop. The Union may use copiers to copy materials needed for the administration of the Agreement. Such usage must not interfere with official University business. The University further reserves the right to deny access to any and all communications for reasons of security and/or policy violations, nor shall University employee time be utilized in such usage. There shall be no expectation of privacy, such that the University shall have the right to monitor such usage for compliance with the CBA and relevant Rules and Regulations.

Section 4. Posting of Agreement. In the interest of promoting sustainable practices, the University will post a copy of this Agreement on the Human Resources intranet. The University will provide copies of the contract to individuals charged with administering the contract.

Section 5. Curator Meetings. The Union shall be furnished a copy of the full agenda and other public information assembled for the regular and special meetings of the Board of Curators. These materials shall be provided at the same time they are provided to the public. The Board of Curators Bylaws and University Rules & Regulations apply to participation in Board meetings. However, members of the bargaining unit shall not be prohibited from addressing the Board of Curators.

Section 6. Bulletin Board. The University will provide space on existing bulletin boards in each major academic building for the posting of official notices of the Union regarding Union meetings or elections. Material posted on the bulletin board will be appropriate to the workplace, politically non-partisan, and in compliance with the State's ethics laws.

ARTICLE 9 - SABBATICAL LEAVE

Section 1. Qualifications. A faculty member who has been employed full-time (teaching .75 FTE each semester) by Lincoln University six (6) consecutive years and who has been awarded continuous academic tenure is eligible to apply for a sabbatical leave. The person who is granted a sabbatical leave is entitled to one-half an academic year at full salary or a full academic year at half salary.

Faculty members who wish to apply for a sabbatical leave must write a letter of application addressed to the Board of Curators, transmitted through the appropriate academic channels beginning with the immediate supervisor. The application for leave with pay shall include a precise statement of planned activities designed to contribute to the professional growth of the applicant and to the benefit of the University. At the end of the sabbatical leave period, the faculty member shall submit a report to the Vice President for Academic Affairs detailing the nature and extent of activities engaged in during the leave within sixty (60) days after return from sabbatical leave.

The faculty member who completes a sabbatical leave must return to Lincoln University for at least one (1) semester following the sabbatical. A faculty member who does not return following the sabbatical for a full semester after such leave or leaves prior to completing a full semester after sabbatical leave will be required to refund to the University, on a prorated basis, the salary received during the leave by no later than thirty (30) days after separation from the University.

Sabbatical leave shall be dependent upon available funding, as determined by the President in consultation with the Vice President for Academic Affairs.

Section 2. Limitations. No more than three (3) sabbaticals will be awarded per academic year (note: only one (1) person per department may be granted a sabbatical at a time, and only two (2) persons per college may receive a sabbatical in the same year).

Section 3. Privilege. The award of a sabbatical leave is not guaranteed.

Section 4. Review Process. The review process will begin with the Department Head whose recommendation must include a cost analysis and plan for how to cover the duties of the faculty member during the sabbatical period.

Section 5. Submissions. Department Heads will submit their recommendations to the Dean.

Section 6. Committee. The Provost/VPAA will convene a standing Sabbatical Review Committee (made up of two (2) representatives from each college: one (1) of which shall be the Dean) who will review faculty sabbatical proposals and make recommendations to Provost/VPAA.

Section 7. Support. The faculty sabbatical proposal must have the support of the Department Head, Dean, and the Sabbatical Review Committee.

Section 8. Recommendations. The Provost/VPAA makes sabbatical recommendations to the President.

Section 9. Approval. The President upon review and consideration of the recommendations forwards the recommendations to the Board for final approval.

Section 11. Requirements. Faculty recipients will be required to give a public presentation which will be advertised by the Office of the Provost/VPAA to their faculty colleagues.

Section 12. Work Limitations. It needs to be noted that persons on sabbaticals cannot work at another institution for pay without the permission of the Provost/VPAA and President.

ARTICLE 10 - NO STRIKES

Section 1. Prohibitions. During the life of this Agreement and during any written extension thereof, the Union agrees that it will not strike. The University agrees during that same period it will not lockout the bargaining unit.

Section 2. State Law. The Union recognizes Section 105.530 of the Missouri Revised Statutes. In addition, the Union recognizes the prohibition of secondary boycotts under this statute.

ARTICLE 11 - COLLECTIVE BARGAINING GROUND RULES

Section 1. Purpose. The purpose of these ground rules is to describe the procedure to be used in negotiating the Agreement between the Faculty and the University.

Section 2. The Bargaining Teams. The team negotiating on behalf of the University shall be appointed by the President of the University in such number as he/she sees fit, provided that any member of the University team thus appointed must be fully able to enter into tentative agreements at the bargaining table on behalf of the University. The team representing the Faculty shall likewise be fully empowered to enter into tentative agreements at the table on behalf of the University.

Section 3. Ground Rules. The following ground rules shall apply:

- 1. Bargaining shall be conducted in conformity with the Rules & Regulations of Lincoln University. Sections 2.80-2.87.
- 2. Scheduled bargaining sessions shall start on time and end on time, unless otherwise agreed by both teams.
- 3. The University and LUMNEA bargaining teams will be selected in conformity with the Rules & Regulations of Lincoln University. Section 2.80-2.87.
- 4. All members of both teams shall be present at each scheduled bargaining session: if a member of a team is not present, that team must be prepared to move ahead without the absent member.
- 5. No observers shall be allowed in the bargaining sessions.
- 6. Any member of either team may call for a caucus at any time.
- 7. Upon calling for a caucus, the individual must announce the length of time needed for the caucus; the teams will reconvene at the end of the announced time; if additional time is needed, the team must notify the other team at or before the conclusion of the previously-announced time.
- 8. The team presenting a proposal will be allowed to present uninterrupted; at the end of the presentation, the other team will be allowed to ask as many questions as needed for a full understanding of the issue giving rise to the proposal, how the proposal addresses the issue, and the proposal itself.
- 9. The team receiving a proposal will be allowed adequate time within which to respond to the proposal, providing such time is reasonable given the circumstances.
- 10. At the conclusion of each bargaining session, each team may communicate with its constituents if it so desires: however, neither team or any member thereof may communicate with anyone not on the team during a bargaining session, unless such communication is agreed upon by the other team prior to the communication. Constituents of the University bargaining team are the Board of Curators, the President of the University, members of the President's Cabinet and/or members of the Deans' Council Constituents of the LUMNEA bargaining team are the LUMNEA Executive Board, members of the bargaining unit and/or MNEA Legal Counsel.

- 11. Neither team nor any member thereof may speak to anyone other than a constituent, as defined above, about the progress of bargaining or the specifics thereof until such time as the proposed contract is ratified or impasse is reached pursuant to Rules & Regulations Section 2.84, whichever occurs first. Additionally, no constituent may speak to anyone other than the members of their bargaining team about the progress of bargaining or the specifics thereof until such time as the proposed contract is ratified or impasse is reached.
- 12. At such time as the teams reach tentative agreement on a proposal, said tentative agreement shall be reduced to writing and initiated by a designated representative of each team.
- 13. At such time as tentative agreement is reached on all proposals, the tentatively agreed upon proposals shall be collected into a proposed contract and submitted for ratification pursuant to the Rules & Regulations, Sections 2.80-2.87.

Section 4. Zoom. Bargaining sessions which are held via Zoom shall be subject to the same rules as in-person bargaining sessions, with the following additions:

- 1. All participants in a Zoom session shall have cameras on during the session and shall not allow anyone not a team member to sit in the room or otherwise hear the conversation during the session.
- Zoom sessions will not be recorded, unless otherwise agreed upon by both teams: in the event it is decided that a session will be recorded, the recording will be made available to both teams.
- 3. Caucuses shall occur via Zoom's Breakout Room feature, with the members of each team assigned to the room designated for their team.
- 4. No member of the other team shall enter the Breakout Room of the either, unless specifically invited by that team.
- 5. At the end of the caucus, the designated member of the caucusing team will send a text message to the designated member of the other team. letting them know that team is ready to reconvene in joint session. Only when both teams are ready to reconvene will the Breakout Rooms be closed for that caucus.

ARTICLE 12 - WORKPLACE SAFETY

Section 1. Statement. The University is committed to maintaining a work environment that is as free as possible from acts or threats of violence. The University will continue to make all reasonable efforts to protect the safety and security of faculty and the University community, and will maintain appropriate written policies for dealing with violence in the workplace.

Section 2. Notifications. Notification of students placed on conduct holds will be given to those with a need to know, as determined by the University. This shall include academic advisors and current faculty of the students.

Section 3. Response. The University will respond promptly to threats or acts that constitute a threat to workplace safety. Both in-person or electronic behaviors and actions in connection with University business or that could impact a bargaining member's work environment shall be prohibited. Such conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following:

- The use of force with the intent to cause harm (e.g., physical attack, any unwanted contact such as hitting, fighting, pushing, or throwing objects).
- Acts or threats, made directly or indirectly, intended to intimidate, harass, threaten, bully, coerce, or cause fear of harm. These may include either physical acts, verbal acts or any form of communications.
- Acts or threats, made directly or indirectly, by oral statements, written words, electronic communications, or non-verbal means, such as notes, text messages, social media posts, body language, gestures, or symbols that communicate a direct or indirect threat of physical or mental harm.

Section 4. Training. The University shall, in addition to any other training, provide an annual workplace safety training. This training shall include information on identifying workplace safety risk factors, how to report issues, and any other information deemed pertinent by the University and Lincoln University Police Department.

Section 5. Retaliation Prohibited. Retaliation against any bargaining unit member acting in good faith who has made a complaint of a workplace safety violation, who has reported witnessing workplace violence or bullying, or who has been involved in reporting, investigating, or responding to workplace violence or bullying is prohibited. Acts that constitute retaliation may include, but are not limited to employment actions affecting salary, promotion, job duties, work schedules or work locations.

Section 6. Comprehensive Emergency Management Plans. The University recognizes the importance of emergency preparedness. The University commits to providing detailed Emergency Management Plans for each building. These plans will serve as a foundational framework for responding to emergencies, encompassing but not limited to natural disasters, fires, and medical emergencies.

These plans will also be tailored to address department-specific concerns. This includes, but is not limited to, the integration of hazardous materials management and communication strategies specific to the activities conducted by each department.

Section 7. Accessibility of Plans. The University and Union are committed to transparency and accessibility in matters of emergency preparedness. The finalized Emergency Management Plans, including department-specific details, shall be provided to all relevant stakeholders. These stakeholders shall include department chairs and faculty.

Section 8. Communication. The University, having already initiated a comprehensive emergency communication plan and procedure in compliance with 34 CFR 668.46(g), commits to sustaining and advancing the effectiveness of such systems. This includes regular evaluations, updates, and necessary improvements to ensure seamless communication during critical situations.

Section 9. Secure Environment. In alignment with the University's commitment to fostering a secure working environment, the University shall ensure that door locks and access control mechanisms are regularly assessed, maintained and updated. The University undertakes the responsibility to implement measures that allow faculty to exercise control over access to their respective spaces, balancing security needs with individual autonomy.

ARTICLE 13 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION/DISCHARGE

Section 1. Just Cause. No faculty members shall be disciplined or discharged without just cause, however management rights shall not be ignored in determining whether cause exists.

Section 2. Types of Discipline. The University will employ, where appropriate, progressive discipline, including but not limited to the following steps: verbal warning, written warning, suspension without pay, and discharge. The University shall tailor discipline, to be directed specifically at the alleged transgressor, to respond to the nature and severity of the offense, and will not be required to apply progressive discipline where the University reasonably believes that the severity of the alleged offense calls for the imposition of discipline at an advanced step.

Section 3. Disciplinary Procedures. The following disciplinary procedures shall be used:

- 1. Informal meetings between the University and faculty regarding workplace issues are encouraged.
- 2. Faculty shall be given fair and reasonable opportunity to respond to complaints which could result in discipline.
- 3. If, prior to or during an investigatory meeting between the University and a faculty member, the faculty member reasonably concludes that discipline could result, the faculty member shall be entitled to representation by the Union. If necessary, the meeting may be suspended for a reasonable time to obtain representation, but no more than one business day. All disciplinary meetings shall be conducted in private.

- 4. The University may place a faculty member on paid administrative leave pending investigation of an allegation. The Union will be notified of any such action. When placing a faculty member on paid administrative leave, prior to making a determination regarding the faculty member's access to campus resources, the University shall consider the faculty member's research and other academic activities as well as the health, safety, and legal interests of all those involved. Faculty members on paid administrative leave are expected to remain available during normal working hours. Paid administrative leave is not discipline and is not subject to the grievance procedure.
- 5. <u>Notice of Intent to Discipline</u>. If the University intends to impose discipline that involves a loss of pay or termination of employment, the University shall inform the faculty member and the Union of the proposed discipline in writing. The written notice shall describe the event or conduct with sufficient particularity to permit the faculty member and the Union to understand the reason for the proposed discipline.
- 6. <u>Pre-Disciplinary Meeting</u>. The University will schedule a pre-disciplinary meeting to permit the faculty member to respond to a notice of intent to discipline, unless such a meeting is not feasible under the circumstances. At the beginning of any pre- disciplinary meeting, the University will describe its proposed discipline and the general reasons for issuing the proposed discipline. The University will inform the Union in advance of all pre-disciplinary meetings.
- 7. <u>Disciplinary Decision</u>. The University shall inform the faculty member and the Union of its disciplinary decision in writing as soon as possible after the disciplinary meeting.
- 8. Progressive discipline consisting of verbal warning or written warning will be administered by the appropriate college dean.

ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE

Section 1. Purpose. The purpose of this procedure is to provide a process for the prompt and fair resolution of grievances. This procedure shall be the exclusive means of resolving grievances. Nothing in this procedure shall preclude a faculty member or the Union from resolving disagreements informally, providing that the resolution is consistent with the terms of this Agreement. The Union agrees to inform and encourage its members to refrain from employing other means to address alleged breaches of this Agreement by The University.

Section 2. Definition. A grievance is a claim by the Union, on its own behalf or on behalf of a faculty member or members, against the University, alleging a breach of one or more specific terms of this Agreement. A grievance must arise during the term of this Agreement in order to be processed in this Agreement.

Grievances of two (2) or more employees, or grievances from one (1) employee which relate to the same incident, facts, issue or course of conduct, may be joined by mutual consent for purposes of review at any step of this procedure.

Section 3. Time Limits. The time limits set forth in this section shall be strictly enforced except that time limits may be waived by mutual written consent of both parties. Requests for a waiver of time limits shall be responded to in a timely manner.

A grievance may be withdrawn by the Union at any time.

If the Union. on behalf of itself or the faculty member(s), fails to advance a grievance within the specified time, the grievance will be considered waived. If the University fails to respond within the specified time limits, the grievance shall be deemed denied and shall proceed to the next step of the grievance procedure.

Section 4. Cooperation Between Parties. Each party shall have the right to call witnesses of its own choosing at any grievance hearing.

Grievance meetings shall be scheduled at mutually agreeable times and places.

No employee shall be subject to reprisals of any kind or participating in any way in the grievance process.

Section 5. Reporting Requirements. Grievances shall include the following:

- 1. The specific term(s) of the Agreement allegedly violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied.
- 2. A statement of the facts upon which the grievance is based, including the date on which the alleged grievance occurred.
- 3. The remedy sought.

Section 6. Grievance Informal Procedural Step. Not later than fifteen (15) working days after the circumstances giving rise to the grievance. or fifteen (15) working days after the faculty member or Union should reasonably have learned of the circumstance giving rise to the grievance, whichever is later, the Union shall attempt to resolve the grievance by requesting a conference with the appropriate college dean or with the VPAA/Provost if the grievance involves the VPAA/Provost. The VPAA/Provost or designee shall schedule a meeting within five (5) working days of the request at a mutually agreeable time and place.

Section 7. Grievance Formal Procedural Steps.

1. <u>Step One</u>. If the grievance is not resolved at the Informal step, the Union may file a formal written grievance with the VPAA/Provost if the grievance involves the VPAA/Provost.

within ten (10) working days following the informal meeting. The VPAA/Provost shall grant/deny in writing within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance.

- <u>Step Two</u>. If the grievance is not resolved at Step One, the Union, within ten (10) working days of the response, may submit the grievance to the President. The President, or designee, shall meet with Union representative(s) at a mutually agreeable time and place. Within ten (10) working days of the meeting the President or designee, will grant/deny response.
- 2. <u>Step Three</u>. If the grievance is not resolved at Step Two, the Union may appeal the Step Two decision to arbitration. A written demand for arbitration shall be submitted to the University within twenty (20) working days of the Step Two decision. A panel of three (3) arbitrators shall be maintained, who will rotate, in order, in hearing matters of dispute. The panel shall be mutually agreed upon by the Union and the University.

Section 8. Additional Guidance. Grievances by the Union relating to suspension without pay and discharge will be filed with the VPAA/Provost at Step One. If such a grievance is not resolved at this level, the Union may submit the grievance to the President at Step Two. If the grievance is not resolved at Step Two, the Union may appeal the Step Two decision to arbitration.

Section 9. Arbitration. By mutual agreement the parties may elect to utilize an expedited arbitration procedure.

- The cost of the arbitrator shall be divided equally between the parties. If the parties agree to use a court reporter, the cost shall be split equally between the parties. Each party shall bear its own costs of representation. If the arbitration hearing is postponed or canceled because of one party, that party will bear the cost of the postponement or cancellation. The cost of any mutually agreed postponement or cancellation will be shared by the parties.
- 2. The arbitrator shall:
 - a. Have no authority to rule contrary to, add to, subtract from, or modify any of the provisions of this Agreement, and shall confine the decision solely to the application of interpretation of the express terms of the Agreement and the laws of the State of Missouri; and
 - b. Be limited in his or her decision to the grievance issue(s) set forth in the original written grievance unless the parties agree to modify it.
- 3. The arbitration hearing shall be closed unless the parties otherwise agree in writing.

Section 10. Finality of Arbitrator's Decision. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the parties. Any material relating to the alleged misconduct placed in a bargaining

unit member's personnel file will be removed if the employee has been fully exonerated of wrongdoing. The University may retain this information in a legal defense file to be used or released only when required by a regulatory agency, or in defense of legal action.

ARTICLE 15 - REDUCTION IN FORCE

Section 1. Definitions. The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this Article:

- 1. <u>Reductions in Force</u>: Termination of a faculty appointment resulting from a financial exigency, program reduction, or financial emergency. Faculty may not be laid off as a result of a financial exigency or program reduction except as provided in this policy.
- 2. <u>Financial exigency</u>: A condition of projected deficit in the University's operating budget of such magnitude that reduction in faculty is necessary.
- 3. <u>Program reduction</u>: The elimination of degree programs, departments of instruction, or colleges. Program reduction could be caused by reduction in student enrollment, which is a function of the University in its regular review of enrollments, departments and programs, resource allocation and strategic planning.
- 4. <u>Financial emergency</u>: A sudden, catastrophic situation (including but not limited to natural disasters, public health crisis, or act of terror) that requires budget reductions of such magnitude that the layoff of faculty is necessary and of such urgency that procedures and notice in Article 15, Section 2 and Article 15, Section 4 cannot reasonably be followed.

Section 2. Initiation of Reduction in Force. In order to maintain the University's strong commitment to academic integrity and diversity, the rules set forth herein make provision for adherence during the reduction process to the University's Strategic Plan and to the goals and requirements of the University's Affirmative Action Program to the fullest extent allowed by law.

- 1. The University shall prepare and set forth, in writing, the circumstances giving rise to the declaration of a financial exigency or program reduction, and shall meet with the Union seeking recommendations as to the impact on faculty positions.
- 2. Any reduction in force resulting from a financial exigency or program reduction shall be declared and initiated only after feasible alternatives to reduction in force have been considered by the University, with input from the Faculty Senate, and Union. Such measures may include, but are not limited to: reduction appointments; leave without pay; shared appointments, reassignment to another academic unit; transfer to a non- teaching position; supplementation of teaching with nonteaching duties; and early retirement with appropriated compensation.
- 3. For any reduction in force resulting from financial exigency or program reduction, the affected unit(s) shall be notified of the proposed reduction and rationale for that reduction.

4. The paramount goal in the development of strategies and actions for dealing with reduction in force must be to maintain the goals of the University and the objectives of the strategic or long-range plans of the University and its units.

Section 3. Retention Priority Criteria. During reduction in force, the following criteria shall be utilized in determining the retention priority of all faculty members within an affected academic unit or sub-unit after programmatic needs have been determined.

- 1. Tenured faculty members shall have a retention priority over all untenured faculty members; untenured, tenure-track faculty members shall have retention priority over all non-tenure-track faculty members:
- 2. Between faculty members with the same status (tenured, probationary, or non-tenure-track), the faculty member with the higher rank shall have retention priority.
- 3. Between faculty members with the same tenure status and rank, the faculty member who has the greater seniority in rank at the University shall have retention priority, with the exception that any faculty member who did not meet department standards for teaching on his/her most recent performance review shall forfeit all seniority in rank.
- 4. If after application of the above criteria two or more faculty members within the same department are equal in retention priority, then the dean of the department shall determine who shall be retained. If two or more faculty members from different departments are equal in retention priority, then the VPAA/Provost shall determine who shall be retained, in consultation with the deans from the affected departments.
- 5. The dean's retention decisions shall be considered the recommendations made by a committee comprised of faculty from the relevant department. These retention decisions shall be based solely on the faculty member's contribution to the goals of the academic unit as defined by the faculty member's achievement in the areas of teaching, scholarship, and service. Faculty members with the least retention priority shall be the first to be terminated within the specific unit.

Section 4. Notice. Faculty subject to layoff under this section should be given appropriate notice whenever possible, except notice is not required in layoffs due to financial emergency.

- 1. Notification at least three (3) months prior to termination should be provided to senior instructors and probationary tenure-track faculty.
- 2. All tenured faculties should receive notification at least six (6) months prior to termination.
- 3. Faculty members shall be notified of termination via certified mail.

Section 5. Re-employment. Re-employment procedures for laid-off faculty shall be as follows:

- 1. The VPAA or designee shall establish and maintain re-employment lists of all departments and programs including the name of any faculty on lay-off status. It is the responsibility of the faculty members(s) terminated from employment in connection with a reduction in force to notify the Office of the VPAA of any changes in address.
- 2. The University shall not fill a vacant faculty position by hiring an individual not on the reemployment list without first making written offers of re- employment to faculty members on the re-employment list who, according to the affected unit, are qualified for the position as determined by the VPAA.
 - a. Re-employment rights shall extend for a period of three (3) semesters from the effective lay-off date, that is, the first day that the employee would normally be reemployed.
 - b. Faculty members on the re-employment list shall receive offers of re-employment in reverse order of lay-off, based on their qualifications. as determined by the University.
 - c. Faculty members on the re-employment list shall be notified of offers of reemployment via certified mail.
- 3. Any faculty member on a re-employment list who cannot be reached or who fails to accept an offer of re-employment within fifteen (15) working days of the date of the offer letter shall be deemed to have declined the offer, and shall be removed from the re-employment list.
- 4. Any faculty member re-employed shall be placed per the offer as to rank and then salary as if they had been continuously employed.

Section 6. Financial Emergency: Reductions Not Covered by the Exigency Policy. The University will notify the Union when a financial emergency will require a reduction in force. If in the University's judgment emergency action is necessary, the President will present justification for the declaration of a financial emergency.

Although the conditions that constitute an emergency may continue indefinitely, the emergency response to these conditions will extend no longer than two years.

The re-employment provisions specified in Article 15. Section 5 will apply.

Section 7. Not Grievable. Declaration of financial emergency or financial exigency, decisions to discontinue or reduce programs or departments, and the scope of faculty reduction that result. are not subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 16 - BENEFITS

Section 1. Additional Benefits. The following shall be provided to the members of the collective bargaining unit in addition to any other benefits available to University employees beginning January 1, 2024.

- 1. The University shall provide a tuition waiver for dependents up to full-time enrollment in fall/spring semesters; in the event the University eliminates the flat-rate tuition option, full-time would be defined as 12 credit hours per semester. This provision of this Agreement is inconsistent with Rules & Regulations Section 8.45.5 and shall prevail over said section of the Rules & Regulations as to members of the bargaining unit.
- 2. The University shall provide non-reserved parking tags at no cost to the employee; all LUPD parking policies and procedures will still apply.
- 3. The University shall provide the cost of employee-only membership to the LINC.
- 4. The University shall provide admission to all University sponsored athletic events at no cost to the employee.
- 5. The University shall provide a minimum of \$300 in professional development funds each year for travel and/or participation in professional organizations in addition to any current University support. If the University provides \$2,500 or more per fiscal year, a member of the collective bargaining unit receiving \$2,500 or more in professional development funds will not be eligible for the additional \$300 that fiscal year.
- 6. The University shall provide an Employee Assistance Program (EAP): the terms and costs of which shall be determined by the University.
- 7. The University shall grant forty-eight (48) hours of personal leave with pay each fiscal year to all faculty.
- 8. This Agreement acknowledges that the University's Special Leaves Policy, Rules and Regulations 8.42, will be altered to allow for: A faculty member to request a special leave of absence for professional reasons such as research or exchange opportunities. The leave request will be initiated by the faculty member and must receive approval by and through the chain of administrative command including the President. The special leave of absence should not exceed a maximum of one (1) year.

Section 2. Completing Compensation Study. Lincoln University and LUMNEA recognize that competitive salaries are key to recruiting and retaining well qualified faculty. The University commits to reasonable best efforts to complete the remaining phases of faculty pay increases to align with the recommendations found in the compensation study completed with phase one implemented during 2023.

ARTICLE 17 - COMPLETE AGREEMENT

Section 1. Complete Agreement. This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the University and the Union. No deletion, change or amendment of any term or provision of this Agreement shall bind the University or the Union or be effective during the term of this Agreement, unless evidenced by a written document which has been signed and dated by the University and the Union. If there is an inconsistency between an existing University rule or policy and an express provision of this Agreement, such rule or policy shall not apply to the bargaining unit members. In addition, no new amended University rule, policy or resolution shall apply to bargaining unit members if it conflicts with an express term of the Agreement.

1

ARTICLE 18 - LEGALITY/STABILITY OF AGREEMENT

Section 1. Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is at any time rendered or declared to be invalid by law or by a court of competent jurisdiction, all other terms and provisions of this Agreement not rendered or declared invalid shall remain in full force and effect. The Parties shall meet and negotiate regarding the affected part or parts of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 19 - DURATION

Section 1. Duration. This Agreement between the Lincoln University Board of Curators and the LUMNEA shall be in full force and effect from the date of ratification by the parties to December 31, 2025 and thereafter until the parties agree on a successor agreement or reach impasse. Negotiations between the parties on a successor agreement shall begin on or before 90 days prior to the contract expiration date.

Section 2. Reopeners. Either party may reopen negotiations on compensation and benefits by providing written notice to the other party if:

- 1. There is a 10% increase of the total enrollment using Fall 2021 enrollment census as a base, or
- 2. The University notifies the union of a proposal to reduce compensation or benefits. This notification must occur at least 60 days prior to proposed implementation.

ARTICLE 20 - NON-DISCRIMINATION

Section 1. Statement. The Union and the University agree not to discriminate against or harass any employee on the basis of race, color, national origin (including ancestry, or any other subcategory of national origin recognized by applicable law), sex (including marital status, family status, pregnancy, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, or any other subcategory of sex recognized by applicable law), religion, age, disability, veteran status, genetic information or any other basis protected by applicable law. The Union and the University further agree not to retaliate against persons who in good faith report discrimination or testify, assist or participate in any investigation, proceeding or hearing involving a complaint of discrimination. The University's policies on discrimination and harassment may be found on the University's website and may be revised by the University from time to time.

Section 2. Accommodations. The Union and University recognize the University has an obligation under state and federal law to provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with a disability (as that term is defined under state and federal laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of disability) and they will work together to provide such accommodations.

Section 3. Claims and Procedures. Any employee's claim of discrimination or harassment in violation of this Article shall be handled exclusively through the procedures available to all University employees. Those procedures may be found on the University's website and may be revised by the University from time to time. Nothing herein is intended to prevent an employee from filing a claim of unlawful discrimination or harassment with any administrative agency or court of competent jurisdiction.

BOARD OF CURATORS LINCOLN UNIVERSIT

Dated: 02/08/24

LUMNEA

Mu diet

Michael Scott, Ph.D., President

2-14-24

Dated:

19